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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'd like to

          3  first welcome my colleagues, Maria Baez, who is the

          4  sponsor of the legislation that we will be

          5  discussing today, and Annabel Palma, who is a member

          6  of the General Welfare Committee. I would also like

          7  to thank our counsel, Jackie Sherman, for her work

          8  in preparing this hearing and other members of the

          9  Council staff for the good work they've done to

         10  prepare for the day.

         11                 I'm going to in a second turn to

         12  Council Member Baez for an opening statement. I

         13  would just like to say, today, of course, we're

         14  considering Intro. 198, which I think is a very

         15  important piece of legislation because it seeks to

         16  continue to provide fairness and equality in the way

         17  we provide City services, and in particular, on a

         18  vital front, the way we provide emergency shelter

         19  and homeless services for people in need, and I

         20  welcome our colleagues and friends from the

         21  Department of Homeless Services. We'll hear from

         22  them shortly.

         23                 I have a lot of history. I'm sure it

         24  will come up in the question I'll refer to, but I

         25  have a lot of history working on the issue of
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          2  domestic partnership going back to the later years

          3  of the Dinkins Administration, and I feel very

          4  strongly that the idea of everything we've done with

          5  Executive Orders and legislation alike, in terms of

          6  domestic partnership is to ensure equality and also

          7  to recognize the many different types of domestic

          8  partnerships that exist in our society and to honor

          9  them all and respect them all.

         10                 Some are between same-sex couples,

         11  some are between opposite-sex couples, all need to

         12  be recognized and treated fairly, and certainly we

         13  have to avoid any discrimination or any negative

         14  impact on the families financially, personally,

         15  otherwise.

         16                 I do think DHS has taken this issue

         17  seriously, and I think there has been some evolution

         18  of DHS position, but I'm not sure the evolution has

         19  been sufficient, nor consistent, and I think it is

         20  our job as oversight entity and as Legislature to

         21  really seek any situation where we think there may

         22  be inequality, or there may not be yet sufficient

         23  equality and act on it, because everything sets a

         24  precedent for everything else in our local

         25  government and in government in general. So, I

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  really want to thank and commend Maria Baez for

          3  focusing on this issue, and I know how much she is

          4  committed to making sure government at the

          5  grassroots level really does treat people fairly.

          6  And so I'd like to now turn to Maria Baez for an

          7  opening statement.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you. Thank

          9  you, Council member.

         10                 Good afternoon. I would like to begin

         11  by thanking the Chair of the General Welfare

         12  Committee Council Member Bill DeBlasio for holding

         13  this hearing today to consider Intro. 198. As a

         14  prime sponsor for this bill, I strongly believe that

         15  this important piece of legislation will play a

         16  significant role in ensuring that adults who have a

         17  domestic partnership recognize under New York City

         18  law are eligible for shelter, by requiring the

         19  Department of Homeless Services to accept a

         20  certificate of domestic partnership as proof of the

         21  existence of a family unit, we are clearly sending a

         22  strong message to the domestic violence of this

         23  City, that we will continue to work diligently to

         24  ensure that Department of Homeless Services are

         25  upholding and abiding by the laws that govern this
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          2  great City. The City of New York currently

          3  recognizes domestic partnerships and affords

          4  domestic partnerships the opportunity to enjoy a

          5  number of the same benefits available to married

          6  couples.

          7                 For example, the current policies

          8  entitled Domestic Partners II. Bereavement leave.

          9  Leave of absence when their domestic partner becomes

         10  a parent of a child. Tenant occupancy rights.

         11  Visitation rights of the New York City Correctional

         12  and Juvenile facilities in addition to health care

         13  and hospital facilities.

         14                 Therefore, I think it is only logical

         15  that the Department of Homeless Services recognize a

         16  domestic partnership certificate as sufficient proof

         17  of the existence of a family unit for purposes of

         18  determining eligibility for a shelter. Thank you,

         19  once again, Council Member DeBlasio, and the

         20  Committee, for holding this very important hearing

         21  today.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         23  Council member. Now we welcome testimony from DHS.

         24  Deputy Commissioner Schretzman. I hope I'm saying it

         25  properly.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN:

          3  That's it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

          5  introduce your colleague, and we welcome your

          6  testimony.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Good

          8  afternoon. My name is Maryanne Schretzman, I'm the

          9  Deputy Commissioner of Policy and Planning. And to

         10  my left is Carol David, who is the Assistant

         11  Commissioner for Family Services. And to the left of

         12  her is Monica Hogerment (phonetic).

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You see, right

         14  away you showed inequality at DHS by not introducing

         15  the third person.

         16                 Council Member Baez, Council member,

         17  did you see that?

         18                 We're going to immediately have a

         19  motion to amend legislation to add another protected

         20  category.

         21                 I'm really sorry you had to

         22  experience that, okay?

         23                 MS. HOGERMENT: I'm not testifying

         24  today, so...

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You still
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          2  deserve recognition.

          3                 MS. HOGERMENT: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

          5  continue.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Thank

          7  you for letting me speak today and to clarify our

          8  position on this bill, and also to let you know what

          9  our intake process is and the great achievements

         10  we've been making on this process.

         11                 Over the past few years, as you may

         12  know, and it's really by your support and through

         13  the City's support of homeless services that we've

         14  been able to really help homeless people and

         15  homeless families to come into a humane intake

         16  center, and that is that we closed the EAU up in the

         17  Bronx, and we're really proud that we've been able

         18  to close the EAU. And we have a new center called

         19  the path center, which actually tells, the acronym

         20  stands for prevention assistance and temporary

         21  housing, and so through our five-year goal, as you

         22  can see, that our emphasis is now how to help

         23  families and how to prevent homeless and how to

         24  provide temporary housing in a quick way and in a

         25  way that we could help families and individuals to
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          2  obtain permanent housing as quickly as possible.

          3                 So, in the last couple of years

          4  that's what we've been up to and that's what we've

          5  been doing.

          6                 What we -- in the path program when

          7  we were starting a path program, what we did was we

          8  realized that the adult families needed to be

          9  serviced in a different setting, and in 2003, DHS

         10  removed intake services for these adult families

         11  from the EAU and opened an AFIC, what we call the

         12  Adult Family Intake Center in Manhattan, so now the

         13  path program is dealing with pregnant and families

         14  with children, that's the intake center for those

         15  families, and the AFIC is for adult families who are

         16  in relationships, either romantic relationships or

         17  familial relationships with mother/daughter kinds of

         18  relationships, adult daughters and moms. And what we

         19  have done, too, is in our adult population is we are

         20  going to now decentralize our adult intake system

         21  from one center to three centers. So we're in that

         22  process of decentralization right now, and the

         23  purpose of that is really to help homeless people to

         24  be able to access our shelter and to offer a broader

         25  array of responses to homelessness.
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          2                 By increasing the service component

          3  at our front door and in strengthening these

          4  linkages to community-based resources, we believe

          5  that it will be possible for some individuals to

          6  avoid experiencing homeless entirely, and, of

          7  course, remain committed that those who are

          8  homeless, that they'll have a place to be and a safe

          9  place to go.

         10                 And we're proud of these efforts in

         11  ensuring that our clients are able to access DHS

         12  services. We're also proud of our efforts to

         13  increase our efforts to increase our programs impact

         14  and those who still face discrimination.

         15                 I will now talk about the successful

         16  changes to our policies concerning services to

         17  transgendered clients and couples at intake. So, I

         18  don't feel I really laid it out for you, but we have

         19  two systems, we have a family system and an adult

         20  system.

         21                 The family system is our Path Program

         22  up in the Bronx for women with children or pregnant

         23  women, and our Adult Center is on 30th Street and we

         24  are going to decentralize that, make three centers

         25  throughout the City, make it easy, especially for
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          2  street homeless people to come in and we're

          3  decentralizing that process right now and we have

          4  the AFIC, which is for adult families, and that's a

          5  unique service at 30th Street. So, these are the

          6  changes that we have already made.

          7                 Now, in 2003, the transgender

          8  advocates and gay and lesbian advocates, including

          9  members from the Sylvia Rivera Law Project, the

         10  Queers For Economic Justice, the LGBT community

         11  center, the CARE program, approached DHS to discuss

         12  how to improve access to shelter for transgendered

         13  clients.

         14                 The agency met with these advocates

         15  regularly to discuss their concerns, identify best

         16  practice models and ultimately create a model policy

         17  of non-discrimination. And what was lauded by the

         18  transgender community is, quote, the best policy of

         19  its kind in the nation, DHS issued the transgendered

         20  intersex client policy in January 2006.

         21                 This policy is a revolutionary step

         22  toward ensuring respect and tolerance for

         23  transgendered and inter-sexed individuals.

         24                 During intake a client's gender is

         25  determined by his or her gender identity, regardless
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          2  of legal documents or physical appearance. To that

          3  extent practicable, DHS assigns the client to an

          4  appropriate intake assessment shelter and program

          5  shelter based on the client's self-identification.

          6                 DHS is instituting training by an

          7  expert consultant on transgender and inter-sex

          8  issues. We're proud of our policy and its effect on

          9  increase in the availability of shelter and services

         10  to transgender and intersex people.

         11                 Similarly, in 2004, gay rights

         12  advocates approached DHS discuss our intake policy

         13  for couples without a marriage certificate.

         14                 At the time, agency policy stated

         15  that unmarried applicants who are not related by

         16  blood or medically dependent, who wish to attain

         17  shelter as a family, must provide interdependence by

         18  providing two forms of documentation, one of which

         19  establishes six months of cohabitation, a domestic

         20  partnership certificate was not considered as proof

         21  of interdependence. These advocates were concerned

         22  that agency policy could not treat same-sex couples

         23  with domestic partnership certificates and married

         24  coupled equally.

         25                 Our agency took the concerns of the
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          2  gay rights advocates very seriously. We recognize

          3  the State law prevented certain couples from

          4  attaining marriage certificates. After further

          5  review and consideration, DHS amended our policy to

          6  respond to this discrepancy in the law.

          7                 In 2006, DHS released an amended

          8  policy that offers family-type shelter to all

          9  homeless couples who had entered into the most

         10  legally-binding relationship possible for their

         11  situation.

         12                 Married couples and gay and lesbian,

         13  same-sex couples who have a domestic partnership

         14  certificate do not need to prove their

         15  inter-dependence.

         16                 Of course, homeless couples who have

         17  not entered the most legally-binding relationship

         18  possible, heterosexual couples with a domestic

         19  partnership certificate, or same-sex couples with no

         20  legal recognition of their relationship, may still

         21  obtain family-style shelter.

         22                 Couples who have not entered into the

         23  most legally solid relationship possible, must

         24  provide evidence of their interdependence and six

         25  months of cohabitation.
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          2                 A domestic partnership certificate is

          3  considered evidence of interdependence. Our policy

          4  was carefully crafted and rest on two core

          5  principles. First, we provide family-style private

          6  rooms and shelter to couples who have entered the

          7  most solid and legal binding relationship possible.

          8                 Second, we treat heterosexual couples

          9  and gay lesbians, same-sex couples equally when they

         10  have entered into the most solid and binding

         11  relationship possible.

         12                 For homeless couples who have not

         13  entered into this type of relationship, we may still

         14  provide family-style shelter. We simply ask that

         15  they show us that they are interdependent.

         16                 Our policy is a common-sense approach

         17  to ensure that independent families are served in a

         18  setting that respects their relationship and is

         19  sensitive to their needs. New York City, unlike

         20  other jurisdictions in the country, does not require

         21  applicants to provide documentary proof of

         22  interdependence to obtain a domestic partnership

         23  certificate.

         24                 In addition, unlike a marriage

         25  license, a domestic partnership is easy to dissolve.
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          2  We remain committed to serving diverse families

          3  while also reserving critical resources for those

          4  families who have proven to be interdependent upon

          5  one another in a committed relationship. I'd like to

          6  thank the Council for the chance to be here today,

          7  and I'm happy to answer any of your questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, we thank

          9  you for your testimony.

         10                 I'd like to offer the first

         11  opportunity to ask questions to Council Member Maria

         12  Baez, who is the sponsor of the bill.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you very

         14  much. And just for clarity, in January 2006, DHS

         15  released an amended policy that offers family-type

         16  shelter to all homeless couples who have entered

         17  into the most legal binding relationship possible

         18  for their situation, correct? 2006.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN:

         20  That's correct, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: My question is

         22  geared more to the intake workers, what sort of

         23  training have they had to let individuals know that

         24  this is now afforded to them?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: I'll
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          2  turn it over to Carol, but we, obviously, have had

          3  some training sessions. Training is ongoing for

          4  intake workers and all staff once we make a policy

          5  change.

          6                 So, what happens is, in each group

          7  that you are situated in, or unit in the facility,

          8  you are trained in whatever policy has changed.

          9                 What we do is we bring out the old

         10  policy and the new policy and then we have a

         11  question and answer session generally with our Legal

         12  Department present.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: Just to

         14  let you know, too, the agency has an overall arching

         15  training program for all staff members, that

         16  includes the intake workers, as well as staff who

         17  are running the shelters.

         18                 And part of that training is around

         19  engagement, respect, how to do motivational

         20  counseling, and how to be respectful for people who

         21  are very vulnerable, in how to help them in the best

         22  way possible. And the agency, we do have these

         23  ongoing trainings for all members of our staff.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: The reason I am

         25  asking, because we have had, one of the reasons I
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          2  introduced this bill was because we had a host of

          3  individuals visiting my office up in the Bronx

          4  regarding, and this was after January 2006,

          5  regarding their domestic partnership certificate,

          6  that they were not allowed to go into a shelter

          7  under the domestic partner because they did not

          8  recognize it.

          9                 And this was one of the reasons, and

         10  once again, this was after January 2006, and is this

         11  some sort of -- you did the training. What sort of

         12  follow-up has been done since the training, to

         13  ensure that this is now being accepted. Because I'm

         14  under the impression that it is not.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Well,

         16  let me back up, and we'll get specifics about the

         17  follow-ups on the training. Basically there are two

         18  ideas here that we need to make sure that, one, we

         19  have a system, it's an individual system and a

         20  family system. In the family system for eligibility

         21  we are looking for, do you constitute a family, and

         22  do you not have a place to stay? So, we do

         23  investigations to make sure that the last place you

         24  stayed in the last two years, the people you may

         25  have stayed with, to make sure that we can prevent

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  your homelessness, or to make sure that somebody

          3  really does not have a place to go to. So, we do

          4  that piece.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Can I just

          6  interject for a second? So now you're doing an

          7  investigation.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: We've

          9  always done that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: All right.

         11  You've always done the investigation.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: So, now, just

         14  hypothetically speaking, I'm an individual with my

         15  domestic partner, I go in, you're doing an

         16  investigation, yet I'm homeless. How much time? Am I

         17  allowed to stay in the shelter with my partner --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ:-- Until the

         20  investigation?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Yes.

         22  We have a ten-day investigation period, and what

         23  will happen is, during that ten days we will

         24  investigate on two fronts, whether you are a couple,

         25  whether you constitute a family, and we'll also
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          2  investigate whether nor not you have a place to

          3  stay. If there is another housing resource for you.

          4                 So, some of the families you met, may

          5  have not been eligible, not because they don't

          6  constitute a family, but we determined that we had a

          7  place for them to stay.

          8                 So, those are two pieces that may or

          9  may not -- I can't speak to the details of your

         10  specific cases, but those are two of the issues that

         11  may, for some, make you ineligible, if you will, if

         12  you do have a place that we deem that you can go

         13  back to.

         14                 So, just to clarify around those

         15  cases.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: When you say a

         17  place that you see fit to go back to, for example?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: For

         19  example, if you've been living with your mom, and

         20  you're with, you know, a very common situation might

         21  be you're doubled up with your mom and you're with

         22  your baby, and you're trying to move out and to

         23  sustain a life for yourself and to get on. We may go

         24  to your mom and say, hey, you know, we'd rather her

         25  stay with you than to come to the shelter system. Is
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          2  the room available? Is it still available? We'll

          3  confirm while they're in a ten-day conditional

          4  placement with the person's mom whether they can go

          5  back there or not.

          6                 And that's what the investigations

          7  are typically doing, are trying to negotiate with

          8  the moms often, and sometimes it's family, what we

          9  would call issues around family disruption that with

         10  a little bit of help we could maintain the mom and

         11  adult, daughter and the baby at home. And it's not

         12  an issue of safety or any of those issues, it's more

         13  of a family disruption issue that we can make

         14  referrals to local family support centers to help

         15  those --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: But if my mom

         17  says no, I'm okay, right?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Well,

         19  if your mom says no, and we've gone down to the

         20  investigation and your mom's apartment is available,

         21  then we'll say that's something that you really, you

         22  have a housing resource.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Yes,

         25  I just wanted to clarify that piece of it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          3  Council member.

          4                 Okay, I've got several questions.

          5  Again, I'm a little mystified by the way you're

          6  interpreting the actual City domestic partnership

          7  certification here. But let me come to that in a

          8  second.

          9                 The first and most obvious question,

         10  I don't think you very clearly articulated the

         11  Administration position on this bill.

         12                 So, can I just ask you for a

         13  straightforward answer; does the Administration

         14  support the bill? Oppose the bill? Want to see

         15  amendments to the bill?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: I

         17  think that we do not see the bill as necessary

         18  because we are, from our view, fairness and equality

         19  are a piece of the policy of what we're doing right

         20  now.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. So, I'm

         22  not going to be a jerk, but just in the interest of

         23  accuracy, one could interpret that as opposing the

         24  bill.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Oh,
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          2  I'm sorry. I didn't meant to --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: There's three

          4  big vains, there's support, oppose, or want to see

          5  amendments. Where would you put the Administration?

          6  You're saying unnecessary. Does that mean opposed?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN:

          8  Opposed.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         10                 We commend you for a straightforward

         11  answer. We disagree with you, but we commend you.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Yes,

         13  I think that there are many improvements that we

         14  need to do, and this is not a bill that is necessary

         15  for us to make sure that our system is fair in

         16  providing equal services to people. We believe that

         17  we are doing that, and that, in fact, that our

         18  policy has changed in such, and in working with the

         19  advocates and in working with the others, that we

         20  have a reasonable policy that was very considered,

         21  and we're basically saying, look, we want people who

         22  were family members, who have come to our

         23  facilities, who have the highest relationship

         24  legally they can attain, and for many people that's

         25  marriage, and for other people, that's domestic
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          2  partnership. So, for those, we want to maintain that

          3  level. So, from that perspective, that is what we're

          4  doing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          6                 Again, I'm mystified. As I said, I

          7  was involved in the creation of the original

          8  Executive Order during the Dinkins Administration

          9  and then in the legislation that came later,

         10  establishing the City domestic partnership registry

         11  and the Clerk's Office. I think the whole idea was

         12  to try and create a parallel dynamic in which

         13  benefits and considerations granted by the City were

         14  consistent.

         15                 And the idea now that we're saying

         16  that one type of a relationship is higher or better

         17  or more solid or more substantial, I know you're not

         18  trying to value judge per se, but I think it has the

         19  effect of creating separation and in effect

         20  discrimination.

         21                 If given the current dynamic of our

         22  society the highest quote/unquote, highest type of

         23  relationship or highest status in a relationship a

         24  same-sex couple can have is domestic partnership,

         25  well, I'm glad you're looking at that in the same
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          2  way as you might look at marriage, but I have a

          3  problem right away that if someone who is in an

          4  opposite sex domestic partnership relationship, you

          5  know, there is a City procedure, that's a

          6  sufficiently rigorous procedure that it affects all

          7  sorts of other benefits and privileges, whereby same

          8  and opposite sex individuals can become domestic

          9  partners, but somehow that's not good enough for DHS

         10  in terms of intake, I feel like that's (a) a double

         11  standard; (b) I think that might be discrimination

         12  under out City Human Rights Law, because you can't

         13  have gone to put the energy and effort into creating

         14  domestic partnership as a universal dynamic in our

         15  City, and then say, oh, by the way, it doesn't apply

         16  here, when all along we promised New Yorkers, you

         17  know, gay and straight, that domestic partnership

         18  was an act of equality for everyone, and, in fact,

         19  when the Executive Order and the legislation was

         20  originally passed, a great deal of dialogue was

         21  around the fact that we to understand domestic

         22  partnerships as a part of our society for everyone.

         23                 You know, we used examples of two

         24  elderly sisters living together, and cohabitating

         25  and deserving those rights. We use examples of where
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          2  two people have been friends, lifelong and same-sex

          3  couples, and we used examples of people who chose

          4  not to be married, where a heterosexual chose not to

          5  be married but had a committed long-term

          6  relationship.

          7                 So, I respect that you're grappling

          8  with complex issues, but I feel like you're going

          9  askew of the City Human Rights Law.

         10                 No disrespect to you, but it's not

         11  the agency's place  to reinvent the wheel on this.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: I

         13  understand our policy is legal by our lawyers, and

         14  I'm not the lawyer to say, and I think that this

         15  spirit of this from DHS, is that we have a spirit

         16  that we do treat all families equally and what we're

         17  asking for eligibility is to constitute a family.

         18  And as I said in my testimony, it isn't that you

         19  cannot be a family if you don't have a domestic

         20  partnership or a marriage; what we're asking for is

         21  to have some degree of cohabitation and

         22  interdependency that you can bring to bear to

         23  demonstrate that you have a relationship.

         24                 And that's what we're asking for, and

         25  I think that's part of our process and that has been
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          2  a fair process.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I don't

          4  agree with you respectfully. A) I think you should

          5  have brought a lawyer with you, given that you

          6  understood the nature of the discussion at hand

          7  here. I'm not a lawyer, but again, I was involved

          8  enough to understand the ideas that are being put

          9  forward.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN:

         11  Right. It's not discriminatory, what we're putting

         12  forward.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It is not what

         14  the domestic partnership registry law is about, and

         15  it's not what the Human Rights Commission has

         16  defined as the way we respect domestic partnerships

         17  across the board.

         18                 You can't say one type of domestic

         19  partnership has a status than another type.

         20                 I'm just coming -- again, Human

         21  Rights Commission was overseen by this Committee for

         22  the last four years. So, we spent quite a bit of

         23  time working with the Human Rights Commissioner, and

         24  I'm just saying to you unequivocally, and in support

         25  of Council Member Baez's bill, one of the issues at
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          2  hand here is you can't parse and redefine the

          3  domestic partnership status in this City. It exists,

          4  it's universal and you can't just change it in one

          5  agency. That would be one point.

          6                 A second point related, it appears,

          7  and I'm looking at your policy, and I'm looking at

          8  the City's Administrative Code here, that you treat

          9  individuals who are in domestic partnerships by

         10  virtue of our New York City domestic partnership

         11  registry differently than people who are regarded as

         12  domestic partners because they entered into a civil

         13  union or a gay marriage or domestic partnership in a

         14  different jurisdiction and then came here.

         15                 Now, again, that bill passed out of

         16  this Committee, so I'm very familiar with the

         17  concept and I believe thoroughly that in everything

         18  we've done, we've created, again, tried to create

         19  universality and equality.

         20                 If you have a civil union from

         21  Vermont and you come here and you're treated as a

         22  domestic partner here, it's not different than if

         23  you just lived here and became a domestic partner

         24  here. And it seems to me your policy does create

         25  that difference. Can you speak to that?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: It

          3  does not. We take that into consideration, and it is

          4  a document that we use to verify family -- to verify

          5  that you're a family.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me just try

          7  again here. This is, let me just check with Counsel,

          8  this is a DHS document, right?

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Procedure No.

         11  03-503 from DHS, Division of Family Services, issued

         12  January 4, 2006. And it says applicants, this is a

         13  quote "applicants who have obtained domestic

         14  partnership certificates from the New York City

         15  Clerk's Office, who have no alternate means to

         16  obtain legal recognition of their relationship are

         17  exempt from the interdependence and cohabitation

         18  evidentiary requirements of this policy."

         19                 Okay, now, again, I think you're

         20  treating folks who come in from other jurisdictions

         21  differently than that.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: We

         23  treat them all the same. If you come into New York

         24  City from another State and you have a domestic

         25  partnership, and you are a heterosexual couple, we
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          2  will still ask to prove six months cohabitation.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you're

          4  saying you have a civil union in another state come

          5  here, or you could have a domestic partnership

          6  certificate from New York City, either way you're

          7  going to ask for additional documentation?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: No, I'm

          9  saying for all married coupled who come in, whether

         10  you're out-of-state or in-state, you're treated the

         11  same, and for any couple who are same-sex couple who

         12  come in with the domestic partnership certificate,

         13  you're treated the same.

         14                 And for any, if you're a couple who

         15  have a domestic partnership, a heterosexual couple,

         16  we are asking for six-month cohabitation.

         17                 When you get a domestic partnership

         18  from the City Clerk's office, when you register you

         19  must provide an affidavit attesting that they have a

         20  close and committed personal relationship, living

         21  together, have been living together on a continuous

         22  basis. What we're checking for as part of our

         23  investigation is the six-month cohabitation which

         24  proves living together on a continuous basis.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you don't
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          2  believe the City Domestic Partnership Registry is

          3  rigorous enough? Is that what you're saying?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: I

          5  don't believe that they're checking whether couples

          6  are living together on a continuous basis. That is

          7  our second check. We're letting the couple in, and

          8  what we're doing as part of the two-year housing is

          9  we're ensuring that this couple has lived together,

         10  cohabbed for six months. It's part of our

         11  investigation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: My concern here

         13  is you seem throughout this to be suggesting that

         14  there is some motive on the part of folks to somehow

         15  evade your rules. Again, I think if folks go and get

         16  a domestic partnership, that's a substantial

         17  commitment right there. I would be very interested

         18  to know if you have the facts and figures. My

         19  understanding of the history of domestic partnership

         20  program is, it is not entered into lightly by

         21  people. The numbers are not so overwhelming of the

         22  folks who have gone and gotten domestic

         23  partnerships, particularly non-same-sex couples to

         24  suggest that people somehow see this as a golden

         25  opportunity to take advantage of their government.
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          2                 I think in fact domestic partnership

          3  is essentially functioning as it was intended, very

          4  committed relationships that people want to

          5  establish in the eyes of the law, but not through

          6  the vehicle of heterosexual marriage.

          7                 So, I would be interested, do you

          8  have some statistics or some examples of fraud or of

          9  inappropriate activity that led you to question why

         10  the domestic partnership certificate would not be

         11  sufficient?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: No,

         13  we do not.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, then how

         15  do you respectfully, and I say this tipping my cap

         16  to the nature of the Bloomberg Administration, which

         17  is very analytical, numerical. Your own previous

         18  Commissioner Linda Gibbs would show me chart upon

         19  chart upon chart in everything we ever talked about,

         20  and I respect that. But how do you make a policy,

         21  which appears to me to be in contradiction to an

         22  existing City law based on a supposition or a

         23  possibility of fraud, if you have no evidence there

         24  has been any fraud going on.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: You
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          2  know, I don't think that we made this policy based

          3  on particularly data, and certainly Commissioner

          4  Gibbs, formerly Commissioner Gibbs, we used data to

          5  inform our policies.

          6                 This policy was based on an idea that

          7  we have a system of individuals and families and

          8  that we need a system to determine who is an

          9  individual and who is a family, and how do we best

         10  achieve that? And for families, they do come in all

         11  shapes and sizes, all kinds of families live in New

         12  York City, and this was, we consulted with various

         13  groups of people how to do this policy, and we

         14  thought that the best way given the limitations of

         15  State law was to make it such that for heterosexuals

         16  it would be marriage, and for gay and lesbian

         17  relationships, it would be domestic partnerships,

         18  and that was how we were correcting it on a City

         19  level.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Again, I'm not

         21  clear whether State law would in any way interfere

         22  with our domestic partnership program being

         23  recognized consistently. Obviously, it has existed

         24  under state law for over a decade now, so...

         25                 I guess I would just say to you, it
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          2  seems to me that in terms of dealing with people in

          3  crisis, you know, individuals defining themselves as

          4  families should be respected and acknowledged right

          5  there, but if you go the extra mile to get a

          6  domestic partnership, I think that should be more

          7  than enough to establish an idea for your functional

          8  purposes that the individuals involved consider

          9  themselves family.

         10                 Is there any kind of statistics you

         11  can give us, of, you know, people, the number of

         12  people you've turned down who claimed to be in a

         13  familial relationship, anything numerical that you

         14  can tell us why you thought you needed to go to this

         15  extent. Because this obviously was a conscious act.

         16  You could have said, we'll leave it to the judgment

         17  of the intake workers to decide whether people

         18  should be treated as a family or not, but you've

         19  gone to a great deal of trouble to define it in this

         20  manner and not to define it through a simple vehicle

         21  of domestic partnership. Is there something that you

         22  can tell us that will make us understand why you had

         23  to go to the point of defining it in the way you

         24  did?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: I do
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          2  not have data necessarily to support this, but all I

          3  can say to you is that we have adult families in our

          4  system, who have domestic partnerships, who do not

          5  have domestic partnerships, that it is one piece of

          6  the eligibility process, it's not the entire piece

          7  of the eligibility process, and this is the process

          8  that we think is the fairest process to determine

          9  who comprises a family.

         10                 Now, if you do not have a domestic

         11  partnership, or you do not have a marriage, that

         12  doesn't mean that you're not a family. What we then

         13  ask is do you have any former document, or is there

         14  any way we can help you to get that document or to

         15  understand that you've been together for at least

         16  six months?

         17                 We've had situations where we've --

         18  as you may know, we're trying to do a big effort

         19  around outreach for street homeless, and some of

         20  those folks do not have documents. We've been trying

         21  to -- there are couples on the street, we've been

         22  bringing them in, and giving them as a housing

         23  choice, a family hotel room, and in those

         24  situations, we confirm by a variety of ways,

         25  through, sometimes it's store owners or issues of --
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          2  people know when you've been living on the street

          3  who you are. People are connected to our social

          4  service systems. Even though they're often isolated,

          5  we've been able to confirm that somebody has been

          6  together as a couple on the street and we have made

          7  them eligible as a family and that they do not have

          8  a place to go.

          9                 So, it isn't that we're not doing

         10  this, it's -- we are doing this and we are putting

         11  special efforts.

         12                 One of the reasons why we separated

         13  the adult families from the families with children,

         14  so that we could put more attention onto the adult

         15  families because they were working with families

         16  with children environment, and they had different

         17  issues. Many of the families with children, the

         18  issues tend to be more economic and affordability

         19  issues, adult families issues, sometimes a

         20  combination of affordability and economics, and it's

         21  also individual issues of substance abuse and mental

         22  health issues that reflect a little bit more what

         23  our adult shelters look like. And that's why we

         24  wanted to separate out the adult family shelter from

         25  the family shelters so that we can bring more
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          2  resources to bear and understand the population a

          3  little bit more than what we've had.

          4                 So, in having a separate intake

          5  center, it has helped us in placement, it's helped

          6  us with understanding what the needs are of this

          7  population, and helping them to move through the

          8  system in a way that's going to help them in the

          9  long term.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I don't doubt

         11  that you're trying to serve people, we're just

         12  trying to make sure you're serving them fairly and

         13  equally, and I'm very unconvinced, and I have so say

         14  that respectfully to come to a hearing and not have

         15  any evidence or numerical record why a policy was

         16  created and why it's the right policy, I find that

         17  troubling. I don't think it's ill-will, I think

         18  that's not the right way to approach oversight. And

         19  I would urge you to follow-up on this by showing us

         20  whatever evidence you do have that led to this

         21  policy, because it's our job to bring these issues

         22  to light and have a public debate.

         23                 In fact, if the numbers and the

         24  history you have suggests that we're not handling

         25  the domestic partnership situation properly, than

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  you should reconsider and perhaps support this bill.

          3  If your numbers prove something we don't understand,

          4  we can have that conversation. But we need some kind

          5  of evidence to work with.

          6                 Let me turn now to Council Member

          7  Annabel Palma.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair.

         10                 I'm trying to understand this whole

         11  process here and I think I'm just more confused.

         12                 I want to ask, going back to the

         13  response you gave Council Member Baez on her

         14  hypothetical question, when you said that if DHS

         15  deems someone's apartment suitable to you, they're

         16  denied shelter?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: No,

         18  it's part of the investigation of a two-year housing

         19  history. I think what Maryanne is speaking to, if

         20  you have a family in which, let's say you've lived

         21  with your mother all your life and all of a sudden

         22  there is some family discord, and that couple or

         23  that family, how ever you deem it, is coming to the

         24  shelter system, what we have are social workers on

         25  site that you may be ineligible for temporary
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          2  housing assistance but what we do is try to form a

          3  bridge with the mother or whoever the primary tenant

          4  is and the family, and trying to work out the family

          5  discord. You may not be homeless because you have

          6  your bed there, crib there, or whatever the

          7  situation is, but there is a discord in that

          8  household that we would like to help you work out,

          9  because you may not be deemed homeless, but you do

         10  have family discourse, and that's the reason why we

         11  do have social workers on site.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: If you came to

         13  the end of your ropes in that apartment, your mother

         14  doesn't want you there, you feel you could no longer

         15  be in that type of setting. I mean, it's not your

         16  apartment, it's someone else's apartment. You're

         17  still homeless. Although you have a roof over your

         18  head, you're still considered to be homeless. You

         19  need a place to go.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: Well,

         21  each situation is individualized, and we would just

         22  look at the whole situation. It's just not so cut

         23  and dry. It's just not automatically no.

         24                 The reason why I talked about the

         25  social work component is because they are making
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          2  actually phone calls to that primary tenant to

          3  really find out what's going on. And we also make

          4  referrals to the Community-Based Organizations to

          5  help with family discord.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: And then in

          7  regards to the heterosexual couples who only have

          8  the domestic partnership certificates, I think what

          9  you had made reference was you're going into like

         10  neighborhoods asking the store-owners.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: In the

         12  case of street homeless, obviously we want to reduce

         13  the number of street homeless, so if there is a

         14  couple on the street, and we've had situations where

         15  we've had to constitute that they were a couple who

         16  were living on the street, that they did bring in

         17  letters from either store owners or clergy, and that

         18  was enough to constitute that they had been together

         19  enough, you know, long enough that they didn't just

         20  meet someone an hour ago, that they've been together

         21  and they're a legitimate couple.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Why doesn't

         23  those same rules apply to a heterosexual couple who

         24  is coming to you and saying to you we're a domestic

         25  partnership --
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: They

          3  actually do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: - and we have

          5  the certificate.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: What

          7  we're saying is along with the domestic partnership

          8  certificate, what we're doing is looking for a

          9  six-month cohabitation, so if you bring in letters

         10  from your clergy, from social service agencies and

         11  also our sister agencies, which we use, like the

         12  welfare management system, we're looking at all of

         13  that as a whole, it's just not an automatic no.

         14                 We're trying to find not only their

         15  interdependence, but the cohabitation. So, in

         16  essence, we're not -- as a person, if you and I just

         17  met and got a domestic partnership, what we're

         18  saying is this is a couple, they have lived together

         19  for six months, and along with their domestic

         20  partnership, and outside of looking at their

         21  two-year housing history, we're making a decision.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Okay.

         23                 And how many people have you helped

         24  obtain other documents in order to receive shelter,

         25  do you know?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: That's

          3  a part of our process. Let's say you have a couple,

          4  a street couple, a couple on the street. I mean,

          5  usually they would have some sort of history in the

          6  welfare management system at some point of being a

          7  part of someone else's case. You can actually go

          8  into the system and find out the actual code for

          9  relationships, and things along that line, and we

         10  would use that. Lexus Nexus, or some other means.

         11  Actually people do bring in letters from their

         12  clergy or from some of their programs that they go

         13  through the social service programs.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: I guess I'm

         15  asking these questions because I'm trying to

         16  understand, are there any special benefits to

         17  homeless heterosexual couples. I mean, I've never

         18  heard of any of them receiving priority over other

         19  families in terms of subsidized housing or federal

         20  housing. So, I don't know if that's something you

         21  know that we don't know, and please share with us if

         22  there is.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: You

         24  know, I think it helps to see the systems, there's

         25  the adult system where any time of the day any man
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          2  or woman can walk in and we're not verifying whether

          3  you're homeless or not. In the family system, any

          4  time of the day or night you can walk in. However,

          5  we are verifying whether you're homeless or not. In

          6  that verification, on the family side of life, we

          7  are looking, do you constitute a family and do you

          8  have a place to go?

          9                 If one of those pieces does not rise

         10  to the occasion that, yes, you're a family, or no,

         11  you're not a family, you can be ineligible, or

         12  eligible, and that's how the system works in that

         13  way.

         14                 So, the other piece of the system is,

         15  in the adult system, we have many shelters who are

         16  working with -- that are specifically designed for

         17  adults who have mental health issues, who have

         18  substance abuse issues, have employment issues, and

         19  there's an assessment process, and we will make the

         20  assessment and assign you to, quote, program bed, in

         21  the shelter system.

         22                 In the family system, we do not have

         23  the process. It's basically the Tier II and hotels,

         24  basically an apartment-style shelter, apartment for

         25  families with children.
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          2                 For the adult families, and they're

          3  getting case management services, most of those

          4  families, although they may be in a stressful --

          5  homelessness is not fun and it's not great, so there

          6  may be stress and there's caseworkers to help, the

          7  sense is to find really what most of those families

          8  want, is a permanent apartment and a place to call

          9  their own. And that's what the work is, is to try to

         10  get them an apartment.

         11                 In the adult family system, we have,

         12  if you will, a hybrid. We have adult families who

         13  look like the family system, but others who look

         14  like the adult system. And we've never really

         15  developed that system to say, hey, what do these

         16  people need? They've always been part of the family

         17  system, and they've been getting apartments or not,

         18  or they've been lingering, now we're looking at how

         19  really can we help people to get into drug and

         20  alcohol treatment programs? Can we bring programs to

         21  these places? Can we make sure there's some mental

         22  health issues being addressed, where those issues

         23  were more addressed on the adult side, they really

         24  weren't addressed on adult family side. Now we're

         25  acknowledging we need to do more on the adult family
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          2  side and that's why we pulled out.

          3                 Housing resources are slightly

          4  different, but they're not that much different. We

          5  have Housing Stability Plus for adults, adult

          6  families and families.

          7                 We will be happy to say that New York

          8  New York III is going to be the New York supportive

          9  housing, which is going to give housing for adults

         10  who have mental health, and this is why we should

         11  all feel very proud that we expanded the definition

         12  of supportive housing to include adults, adult

         13  families, and couples adults. Nowhere in the country

         14  is there supportive housing for adults, for adult

         15  couples. And we're creating that.

         16                 So that's what we're doing

         17  programmatically for these populations, and we're

         18  trying not to do a one size fits all for homeless

         19  people.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just going

         21  t jump in. No disrespect to you. I know Council

         22  Member Palma, you still have other questions, I know

         23  Council Member Baez has another question, and we

         24  have two other witnesses that will be up here

         25  briefly, and unfortunately the budget negotiating
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          2  team meeting is starting soon, so tis the season.

          3                 Thank you, Council Member Palma.

          4                 Council Member Baez.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair. I just want to thank you for being here today

          7  and testifying and commend you on some of the

          8  improvements. We do have a long way to go. I think

          9  that the issue of domestic partners has not been

         10  addressed, especially not here today. I think we

         11  still need to see what improvements can be made, and

         12  I certainly look forward to working with DHS to see

         13  how we can be helpful.

         14                 Also, in terms of these, going back

         15  to the social workers, the intake workers, I don't

         16  think that there's enough being done. We've had

         17  cases where individuals come from other states, and

         18  my office is doing the work, we're the social

         19  workers for these individuals. And I don't want to

         20  get into specific cases, I don't think it's

         21  necessary. I think that you need to do some

         22  follow-up, some additional training, to let these

         23  individuals know. And once again, I'm kind of

         24  disappointed, because I'm leaving here not

         25  satisfied, and I hope that we will not let this go.
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          2                 I feel very strongly about it and we

          3  will continue to advocate, and I just want to thank

          4  the advocates for being here and bringing it to my

          5  attention. Thank you for working with me. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          7                 Thank you, Council Member Baez, also

          8  for your leadership on this issue.

          9                 Let me just say a final point. You

         10  know, look, you will not find a lot of times when I

         11  praised the previous Administration of Mayor

         12  Giuliani, but I will say that I believe you may have

         13  taken a step backwards here. Because as I understand

         14  the intake policy during the Giuliani

         15  Administration, there was recognition of the fact

         16  that domestic partnership status was universal and

         17  sufficient evidence of familial status, and there

         18  was no separation between the way same-sex couples

         19  and opposite-sex couples were treated if they had

         20  formal domestic partnership certification from the

         21  City.

         22                 So, I think you should go back and

         23  take a look at that. I don't think anyone would

         24  accuse Mayor Giuliani's Administration of being

         25  permissive by nature. But I want to make that clear.
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          2                 We do look forward to follow-up

          3  information on some of the concerns we've raised. We

          4  do look forward to continuing to work with you on

          5  this. We obviously are going to move forward on this

          6  legislation and hopefully we can work together. And

          7  I appreciate your testimony and you being here.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHRETZMAN: Thank

          9  you.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DAVID: Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 We have two more witnesses. And also

         15  we're going to read into the record formally

         16  testimony, written testimony from the Urban Justice

         17  Center, and we thank them for that.

         18                 Next witnesses are Patrick Markee and

         19  Joseph DeFilippis.

         20                 Who would like to begin? Patrick,

         21  please.

         22                 MR. MARKEE: I will begin. Thank you

         23  very much, and I will be as brief as possible. I

         24  know your time is limited.

         25                 My name is Patrick Markee. I'm Senior
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          2  Policy Analyst at Coalition for the Homeless. And I

          3  offer this testimony in very strong support for

          4  Intro. 198, a bill that is long overdue, to clarify

          5  existing law and to ensure that homeless domestic

          6  partners are provided with equal treatment with

          7  other homeless families in New York City.

          8                 I provided written testimony, which I

          9  won't read today, I'm going to just offer that to

         10  the Committee.

         11                 I first want to thank Council Member

         12  Baez for taking leadership on this issue, and

         13  introducing the bill, also to Council Member Palma,

         14  and to Speaker Quinn, who has shown real leadership

         15  on this issue in the past, and Council Member

         16  DeBlasio, particularly for your incisive questions

         17  just a moment ago, I think you really hit on the key

         18  points here.

         19                 The policy that the City has enacted

         20  now is a policy simply put of discrimination and

         21  deterrence.

         22                 To the point of discrimination, the

         23  policy on its face is discriminatory. I think as you

         24  pointed out, Giuliani Administration, and the

         25  Dinkins Administration had policies which said that
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          2  married couples and domestic partnered coupled

          3  families would be treated equally when they applied

          4  for shelter when sought shelter.

          5                 The Bloomberg Administration, in

          6  April of 2003, reversed that policy, introduced a

          7  policy that said that, married couples when they

          8  came to apply for shelter, no matter how long they

          9  had been married, no matter how long they

         10  cohabitated, with no questions asked, would be

         11  provided shelter as families, domestic partnered

         12  families would have to be asked for two additional

         13  proofs.

         14                 And I just want to sort of give the

         15  Committee an idea of what actually happens to

         16  families.

         17                 I will give you some examples of the

         18  documents that the City request of families to

         19  provide as proof. Utility bills, leases with both

         20  persons' names on them, powers of attorney, health

         21  care proxies, joint wills, joint bank accounts,

         22  these are the kinds of documents and evidence that

         23  very few low-income New Yorkers, much less homeless

         24  New Yorkers are likely to have.

         25                 And I also was concerned that the

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  representatives from the Administration seemed to

          3  give the impression, which I have to say is a false

          4  and distorted impression, that they're out there

          5  seeking information from other folks, store owners,

          6  clergy, et cetera, that would somehow bolster these

          7  families to be defined as families, that does not

          8  happen in our experience in working with more than

          9  100 homeless couples who have been found to be

         10  ineligible for shelter under this policy.

         11                 We have found that, in fact, the City

         12  workers turn down almost every piece of evidence

         13  that is brought on behalf of the family.

         14                 Let me tell you what also happens to

         15  these families.

         16                 Since this policy was enacted in

         17  April 2003, reversing the old parity policy,

         18  hundreds of families have been denied shelter

         19  placements. They have bee forced to sleep, often for

         20  many nights in a row, often for many weeks, on the

         21  floors of the intake office in Manhattan, the adult

         22  Family Intake Center.

         23                 They currently are denied food,

         24  unless they can show that they are taking

         25  medications. Not only are they sleeping on the
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          2  floors and the benches of this intake center, as the

          3  New York Times reported last year in an article

          4  which is included in my testimony, but they are also

          5  denied food if they can't show that they're taking

          6  medication. So, these families, hunger is in fact

          7  for the City evidence or of sufficient need for them

          8  to actually get food. So, they're denied shelter and

          9  food. Many of these families give up.  Many of these

         10  families return to the streets because they have

         11  been deterred. And I think it's also worth

         12  remembering that when the adult family intake center

         13  was opened in December 2003, for a three-month

         14  period the City also had in place rules which said

         15  that if you were found ineligible for shelter, you

         16  could not reapply for shelter for seven days. We

         17  worked with dozens of families which were forced to

         18  sleep on the streets in the winter of 2003/2004,

         19  including pregnant women, individuals with

         20  psychiatric and physical disabilities, forced to

         21  sleep out in the streets in the City and in other

         22  dangerous settings because they had been denied

         23  shelter.

         24                 Now, what's the bottom line, why were

         25  they denied shelter? Not because the City is
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          2  claiming that they're not homeless. In no instance

          3  here is the City in fact claiming that these

          4  families are not genuinely homeless, for the simple

          5  reason that these families have been denied shelter

          6  and denied shelter placements today and denied food,

          7  because the City is claiming that they don't meet

          8  their definition of a family.

          9                 None of the questions that, none of

         10  the documents that the City is asking for from

         11  domestic partner families now, do they require of

         12  married couples.

         13                 And I think also, you know, Council

         14  Member DeBlasio, I appreciate your point that the

         15  City's policy on its face now is not only

         16  discriminatory against opposite-sex couples who are

         17  registered domestic partners, but also against

         18  same-sex couples who are registered as domestic

         19  partners outside of New York   City or who have

         20  civil unions or who have marriages in Massachusetts.

         21                 So, I think that there's real clear

         22  evidence that it's discriminatory. I just want to

         23  give you examples of just a couple of families that

         24  we've worked with that sort of illustrate this

         25  problem. I'm going to use their initials because
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          2  they haven't given us permission to use their names.

          3                 MH and WP was a family, an

          4  opposite-sex couple, registered as domestic partners

          5  we worked with in 2003. Both of them are mentally

          6  ill and taking medication. They had lived for a long

          7  period of time in an abandoned building and then

          8  were forced to leave that abandoned building in

          9  Brooklyn.

         10                 When they came to apply for shelter

         11  they were put out in the streets for seven days

         12  under the policy that the City had at that time, and

         13  slept out in the streets.

         14                 The City was insisting that they

         15  provide utility bills, lease arrangements, et

         16  cetera, which of course they could not provide since

         17  they had been living in an abandoned building. It

         18  was only after a legal counsel threatened litigation

         19  that the City sheltered them as a family.

         20                 Recently, in March of 2006, I

         21  interviewed a family at the adult family institute

         22  center MN and KP, a same-sex couple, lesbian couple,

         23  registered as domestic partners in New York City.

         24  They had been together for three years,

         25  nevertheless, despite this policy which is dated
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          2  January 2006, they were denied shelter and found

          3  ineligible, because the claim that they did not

          4  constitute a family unit. They slept on the floors

          5  of that intake center for at least three nights. So

          6  there is a same-sex couple very recently who had

          7  this policy apply, this discriminatory policy apply

          8  to them.

          9                 And then more recently we've been

         10  working with a couple, KS and TR, an opposite-sex

         11  domestic partnered couple. Their domestic

         12  partnership certificate dates from August of 2004.

         13  In October of 2004 Mr. R was incarcerated. When he

         14  came out of the prison system earlier this year, he

         15  reunited with his partner and they applied for a

         16  shelter together. They have a child in common, a

         17  domestic partnership certificate dated almost two

         18  years ago. They corresponded regularly while he was

         19  in prison. Ms. S, who is a member of that couple

         20  suffers from mental illness and takes multiple

         21  medications. At no point is the City denying that

         22  this family is homeless, nevertheless, they have

         23  been found ineligible for shelter and denied shelter

         24  placements on multiple occasions because the City

         25  claims that they are not a family.
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          2                 That is the real impact of this

          3  policy. This is not a policy that is meant to be

          4  helping families. I was, just I have to say

          5  absolutely alarmed and outraged that the

          6  representative from the Administration would

          7  describe this as a policy of fairness and equality

          8  and say that we treat all families equally.

          9                 It is very clear that families in

         10  this City who have registered as domestic partners,

         11  until, you know, from April 2003 until very recently

         12  that included same-sex couples. Now it by the terms

         13  of the policy itself, includes opposite couples who

         14  have registered as domestic partners, the City does

         15  not treat them as families for the purposes of

         16  shelter. It's clearly discriminatory. It's designed

         17  to deter them from getting shelter. And it's leading

         18  to people who are genuinely homeless and

         19  continuously in need of getting the help that they

         20  deserve.

         21                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         22  testify.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         24  much. And we do appreciate the rather searing

         25  examples you gave and they're very helpful to this
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          2  dialogue.

          3                 Mr. DeFilippis.

          4                 MR. DeFILIPPIS: Thank you. My name is

          5  Joseph DeFilippis. I'm the Executive Director of

          6  Queers for Economic Justice.

          7                 I've also submitted testimony, which

          8  I also won't be reading, because I know we're in a

          9  rush. I also want to focus on a couple of points.

         10  First, I want to second everything that Patrick

         11  said, offer my support for his testimony, and thank

         12  you all for holding this hearing and for supporting

         13  this bill, and for your very perceptive questions

         14  when the Administration testified because I was also

         15  troubled by the testimony offered.

         16                 And because of that I would like to

         17  offer a little history of what happened with

         18  advocates around this working with the City.

         19                 In 2004, over two dozen organizations

         20  submitted a letter addressing this issue. These

         21  organizations were predominantly lesbian, gay,

         22  bisexual, transgender, but also included some

         23  homeless rights organizations. I've submitted that

         24  letter as testimony.

         25                 We then spent about a year in

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  negotiations with the City explaining this issue and

          3  they were very, very clear in their concern about

          4  not wanting us to perceive this policy as

          5  homophobic, and I personally accept that, and

          6  believe their intentions to be true. This was not

          7  about treating gay and lesbian couples differently.

          8                 Nevertheless, the result has been

          9  really devastating for homeless couples, both gay

         10  and straight, and when they, after many months of

         11  negotiation with the City, they came to us with the

         12  exact same proposal that they are now claiming has

         13  been implemented since January.

         14                 At the time there were four

         15  organizations representing this Coalition of 27, and

         16  I was among -- our organization was among them, and

         17  I was at these meetings, and we explained to them

         18  very clearly that the proposal was not satisfactory,

         19  and we rejected it soundly.

         20                 And, so, I was very alarmed to hear

         21  this sort of passive implication that advocates had

         22  been consulted in creating this proposal, because

         23  advocates for the lesbian and gay, bisexual and

         24  transgender community rejected it very clearly, and

         25  we rejected it for four reasons that I would like to
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          2  just mention, and that is the entirety of my

          3  testimony.

          4                 The first, as you said, is that it's

          5  probably illegal, and we didn't understand how they

          6  thought this would withhold a lawsuit particularly

          7  Sonda (phonetic), to have one of the first cases of

          8  Sonda be a straight couple suing for discrimination.

          9  It seemed like an irony, we were not interested in

         10  living with that.

         11                 Second of all, they had offered to us

         12  reason, the reason for their policy, they did claim

         13  to us that it was about fraud, and not about the

         14  gays not deserving housing, but weeding out fraud

         15  where they could weed it out, and that from with

         16  marriage license, there was nothing they could do,

         17  but that other folks, they can investigate and they

         18  had to weed out fraud. And the evidence they

         19  presented to us of fraud was non, almost

         20  non-existent and very non-compelling. We all

         21  rejected that the argument that there was fraud

         22  taking place.

         23                 The third reason we rejected it was

         24  because given -- we are thrilled, thrilled with DHS

         25  for their new transgender and conclusive policies
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          2  and Maryanne is absolutely right when she says that

          3  advocates have applauded it as one of the best in

          4  the country. It is. But nevertheless, trans folks in

          5  the shelter system have a long history of being

          6  treated poorly, and as soon as you start saying that

          7  the City is going to make a separate policy for same

          8  sex couples, I have to ask who is going to be

          9  determining what sex people are in with the trans

         10  community? This is not an acceptable distinction to

         11  make.

         12                 And, finally, the fourth --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I am going to

         14  interrupt to say you have just pointed out another

         15  great virtue of universality in a policy. Thank you.

         16                 MR. DeFILIPPIS: That's absolutely

         17  right, and that was our position.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the fourth

         19  reason was that even if it was legal and fair, that

         20  it fundamentally undermines the very concept of

         21  domestic partnership, as you rightly question, and

         22  that is of concern to all LGBT people, when domestic

         23  partnership can be chipped away. It's something that

         24  our community fought for very strongly. This kind of

         25  undermining is really dangerous. Domestic
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          2  partnership was for straight people and for queer

          3  people, and the idea that we're going to have

          4  different meanings for it, is really problematic.

          5  And the idea that they expected the LGBT community

          6  to sell out homeless straight couples in exchange

          7  for this policy was offensive to some of us, and

          8  very concerning.

          9                 And, so, I want to say that on behalf

         10  of the organizations that we've been working with

         11  and currently on behalf of my organization, that we

         12  are in strong support of this proposal, and totally

         13  disagree with the concept that it's not needed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I thank

         15  you for your testimony. I also think you're

         16  absolutely right, again, having seen the whole

         17  history of domestic partnership in New York City, it

         18  needs to be defended and protected. It was

         19  structured in a balanced way on purpose for its

         20  long-term importance to the City, and so that it

         21  would survive. And given the events of the last few

         22  years in this country, I don't think it's an unfair

         23  concern to say we're not only talking about this

         24  policy with this agency and the impact on these

         25  individuals, we're also talking about defending the
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          2  concept of domestic partnership and everything it

          3  stands for.

          4                 Certainly one can say the environment

          5  nationally is very hostile at this moment, and so we

          6  have to understand we are the biggest City in the

          7  country. We do send very substantial signals with

          8  everything we do. I want to thank you for that

          9  testimony.

         10                 Let me just note also we're going to

         11  have read into the record written testimony from

         12  Terry Boggis from Center Kids, and with that, we

         13  look forward to further debate and further action on

         14  Council Member Baez's bill.

         15                 I also have had pointed out to me by

         16  our colleague, Council Member Annabel, that Council

         17  Member Jessica Lappin is here. Thank you for being

         18  here with us. And in light of the fact we're about

         19  to have a negotiating team meeting starting in a few

         20  minutes, I will now adjourn both today's General

         21  Welfare hearing and yesterday's General Welfare

         22  hearing, which was not formally adjourned because of

         23  late votes, and so both hearings are now adjourned.

         24  Thank you to everyone who participated, both

         25  hearings are now adjourned.
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          2                 (The following written testimony was

          3  read into the record.)

          4

          5

          6  Written Testimony Of:

          7  Terry Boggis

          8  Director

          9  Center Kids

         10

         11                 The Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and

         12  Transgender Community Center is here today in strong

         13  support of Intro. 198. Our family program, Center

         14  Kids, which I direct, represents literally thousands

         15  of LGBT families here in New York City, many, many

         16  of them in economic distress. My involvement in

         17  helping found Queers for Economic Justice in the

         18  late 1990s was prompted by witnessing the struggle

         19  of many of our families trying to access public

         20  services and being told they were ineligible due to

         21  the lack of legitimacy of their family structure.

         22  The passage of Intro. 198 would be enormously

         23  important to our families, and our community.

         24                 Yesterday, we, along with others who

         25  have been in negotiation with the Department of
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          2  Homeless Services over many months on this issue,

          3  were informed that, effective this past January,

          4  DHS's new policy is to accept domestic partnership

          5  certification as an access pass to public shelter

          6  for same-sex couples. We very much appreciate the

          7  progress in city policy towards recognition of the

          8  legitimacy of our families that it represents.

          9                 However, there is larger economic

         10  justice issue at stake here, and the work isn't

         11  finished. Domestic partnership certificates were

         12  created as a means of validating a relationship that

         13  is economically interdependent in the eye of city

         14  law, one that was made available to all New York

         15  City citizens, not only gay and lesbian ones. We

         16  understand that DHS believes that mixed-gender

         17  coupled are casually obtaining domestic partnership

         18  certificates in order to scam the system and access

         19  better housing. First, we question the truth and

         20  scope of that accusation, but more importantly, we

         21  think it begs the essential question: it is unfair

         22  to demand additional proofs of economic and

         23  emotional co-dependency for people in conditions of

         24  dire economic hardship beyond the essential piece of

         25  documentation that the city itself has created,
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          2  marriage licenses or domestic partnership

          3  certificates.

          4                 Further, the issue of gender plays a

          5  crucial role here. Marriage licensing requires

          6  members of a couple to be "opposite sex", male and

          7  female. For members of our community who identify as

          8  transgender, civil marriage can be a tortuously

          9  complicated, if not insurmountable, process.

         10  Domestic partnership allows couples, regardless of

         11  gender, to enter into committed relationships and

         12  co-habitation arrangements.

         13                 We thank the supporters of Intro. 198

         14  for their work thus far, especially Council Members

         15  Baez, Rivera, and Speaker Quinn. We urge you to

         16  continue your work on its passage.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.
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